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"As long as the people don't fear the truth, 

there is hope. For once they fear it, the one 

who tells it doesn't stand  

a chance.”  
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 Frank C. Braxton, Jr., was born on March 31, 1929, in Los Angeles, California. As a child, Frank 
had a talent for drawing and sketching. He spent most of his time with a sketch pad and drawing  
pencils in his hands sketching images of LA in the 30s and 40s. In 1947, Frank graduated from Manual 
Arts High School, where he left his mark with school art projects and caricatures of his classmates.  
After high school he studied art and music at Los Angeles City College.  
 

While at LA College, Frank met a fellow voice lesson student, Ben Washam. Ben was a highly respected senior animator for Warner 
Brothers. In 1954, Ben approached the studio head, Eddie Selzer, and encouraged him to hire Frank to work in the studio with him - 
where Looney Tunes and Merrie Melodies cartoons were produced. Frank immediately became Ben’s apprentice/assistant and later 
served as a journeyman animator, making him the first and only Black animator working in Hollywood at the time.  

 

In 1956, when Warner Brother shut down for six months to retool, Frank was recommended to Disney Studios 
where he worked for only 10 days before he was hired as an assistant animator by veteran animator/director Abe 
Levitow. He then worked with animator Bill Hurtz at Shamus Culhane Productions and  
later, at Jay Ward Productions. It was during this time that Frank’s production work aired 
on NBC-TV in 1959. His work on popular cartoons, Peabody’s Improbable History and The 
Bullwinkle Show, was viewed by children everywhere on Saturday Mornings.  
 

In 1960, Frank animated the television cartoon series, Mr. Magoo. That same year, he was 
elected president of the Screen Cartoonist’s Guild, making him the first black person to be 
president of any film union in Hollywood. Four years later, in 1964, he directed Linus the 
Lionhearted.  
 

Frank also began teaching animation to inner city youth at the Performing Arts Center of 
Los Angeles using equipment donated from various studios. Around this same time, Frank 
was diagnosed with Hodgkin Disease. Just as his career began to peak, his illness limited 
his ability to work.  
 

 In 1968, Frank began working with Bill Melendez Production TV specials like 
“You’re in Love, Charlie Brown” and “He’s Your Dog, Charlie Brown”. What 
turned out to be his last project, the feature length “A Boy Named Charlie 
Brown,” was released in 1969, after his death.  
 

On June 1, 1969, Frank Cavalier Braxton, Jr. passed away at UCLA  
Medical Center from Hodgkin Disease. He was  only 40 years old.   
 

In 2019, Frank was posthumously awarded the International 
Animated Film Association’s Winsor McCay Award for his 
“recognition of lifetime/career contributions to the art of  
animation”. He was also posthumously awarded the “Animation 

– Annie Awards” for excellence in animation. The award was 
accepted by his wife, Bette and his two children, Aleta and Scott. 
Also present at the ceremony were his four grandchildren.  
 

After Frank, many talented Black artists, including Floyd  
Norman, Leo Sullivan, Richard Allen, Norm Edelen, and Ron 
 Husband followed with impressive careers in the industry. 
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Mr. Peabody’s Improbable History (1963).  
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(November 21, 1951 – February 21, 2023)  
Zandra Iona Flemister was born November 21, 1951, in Frankfurt, Germany, while her father 

served in the U.S. Army. When the family returned to the U.S., they settled in central Connecticut. 
Zandra’s mother, Pearl, was active in the Civil Rights Movement and brought Zandra along with her 
to the 1963 March on Washington.  At age 16, Zandra was part of the Poor People Campaign March 
on Washington, following the murder of Dr. Martin Luther King. After graduating high school in 

1969, she attended Northwestern University, earning a bachelor's degree in political science in 1971. It was during a job 
fair that Zandra met a Secret Service recruiter who told her that although she was overqualified for the uniformed service, 
she should apply to be a special agent. She was hired and moved to work at the Washington field office.  
 

On Aug. 5, 1974, she became the first black woman to serve as a United States Secret Service Agent. 
Initially, Zandra worked undercover, assigned to investigate counterfeit and treasury fraud. Later she 
was assigned to protective details for Vice Presidential candidate, Bob Dole’s wife, Elizabeth, as 
well as the daughters of both President Gerald Ford and President Jimmy Carter. In 1976 she  
suffered a serious concussion in an auto accident during the presidential campaign.  
 

“Lady Bird Johnson” the wife of former President Lyndon B. Johnson, had lifetime Secret Service 
protections and would often request Zandra to attend social events. Zandra once learned to ski in 
order to accompany President Ford on a skiing trip.  
 

Although her professionalism impressed some notable subjects, many of Zandra’s male 
peers regularly mocked her notoriety for being the first and only black woman to serve in 
this capacity. She was subject to ridicule by her superiors for her natural hairstyle and it 
was reported that colleagues taped a picture of a gorilla over her photo ID and regularly 
used racially derogatory terms. Although Zandra had a reputation for being unflappable in a 
crisis, she soon realized that she could not advance her career with the secret service.  
 

In 1978, Zandra left the Secret Service agency and joined the State Department where she 
remained for 30 years. She married in 1981 and had one son. During her 
time with the State Department Foreign Service interagency, she managed visa screening programs in 
Pakistan and South Korea, established a multinational anti-visa fraud working group in London, and worked 
extensively on counter-narcotics in Pakistan. She advanced to the rank of Senior Foreign Service Officer.  
 

In 2000, Zandra provided an affidavit in support of a class action racial discrimination lawsuit against 
the Secret Service, with more than one hundred former agents joining the suit. Following her exit from 
the Secret Service, the retention rate for Black female special agents was so poor that by 2001, not one 
black woman had served long enough to retire from the agency. The Secret Service ultimately reached 
a $24 million settlement in 2017, with the agency promising to change its promotion procedure but 
denying any wrongdoing or institutional prejudice.  
 

In 2003, Zandra earned a master's degree in national security logistics from the National Defense  
University. Soon after, she started experiencing serious memory loss, due to early onset  
dementia. She retired in 2011. On February 21, 2023, Zandra Iona Flemister died from  
respiratory failure brought on by Alzheimer’s disease.   
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   Jack Leroy Cooper was born September 18, 1888 in Memphis, Tennessee. 
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   Lucy Higgs Nichols was born into slavery on April 10, 1838 in Halifax County, North Carolina.  

Lucy, along with her family, was held in chattel slavery by the Higgs family. Lucy and her siblings 
were shuffled back and forth between Higgs family members fighting for ownership after the  
patriarch died. She was moved to Mississippi, and then to Tennessee. In 1862, just after the start of 
the Civil War, she learned that she would be moved further South. Lucy, then 24 years old, seized 

the opportunity to escape to the North with her young daughter, Mona, and several others. They moved North and  
eventually crossed the Hatchie River, almost 30 miles from their start location. There they found the Union Army’s 23rd 
Volunteer Indiana Regiment, who were camped near Bolivar, Tennessee. The soldiers embraced Lucy and promised she and 
her daughter would not be returned to her former circumstances. Here she met her first husband.  
 

Lucy began working tirelessly for the Union soldiers as a nurse, seamstress, cook, and laundress. With her daughter by her 
side, Lucy travelled with the Regiment and was present at such critical battles as the Siege of Vicksburg and the Siege of 
Atlanta. She also followed the Regiment through General William Tecumseh Sherman’s March to the Sea. She was known to 
be devoted to her daughter, as well as the soldiers that lovingly named her “Aunt Lucy.”  
The harsh conditions of war proved to be too much for Lucy’s young daughter, and Mona, no older than five, died just after 
the surrender of Vicksburg.  
 

The soldiers saw Lucy and Mona as family and gave an elaborate funeral and burial for Mona. She was buried in a grave, 
next to other Union solders.  Although Lucy was devastated, she continued on with the Regiment, following the soldiers to 
the end of the war, to Washington, D.C. Lucy marched with the soldiers as part of the Grand Review of the Federal Armies.  
 

Lucy worked as a family caretaker for some of the officers of the 23rd Regiment. In 1870, she married John Nichols, and 
they lived together in New Albany, Indiana.  
 

While living in New Albany, Lucy maintained contact with her fellow  
members of the 23rd Regiment. She attended every regimental reunion and 
marched in each Memorial Day parade. Lucy became a member of the New 
Albany chapter of the Grand Army of the Republic, a fraternal organization 
of veterans of the Union forces.  
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   Barbara Hillary was born June 12, 1931 in Manhattan, New York. Barbara’s father died 

when she was just two years old and his death created a financial hardship for her mother. 
Although her mother worked long hours cleaning homes, she always made time to read to 
Barbara and emphasized the importance of education. Barbara attended New School, a  

private research university where she studied Gerontology - the study of social, cultural, psychological and biological  
aspects of aging. Barbara earned both a bachelor’s and a master’s degree. She used her education in Gerontology to  
establish a career in nursing, focusing on staff training on aging and care service systems in nursing homes and facilities.  
 

In her mid 20’s, Barbara was diagnosed with breast cancer. 
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   George Shirley was born on April 18, 1934, in Indianapolis, Indiana. At the age of four, George was  
singing in church with his parents, and by age five, he had won First Place in a local talent competition.  
George’s father took an auto industry job in Detroit and moved the family to Michigan.  
 

George played the baritone horn in a community band and studied voice in high school 
which earned him a music scholarship to Wayne State University. He graduated in 1955 with a bachelor’s  
degree in Music Education and became the first black high school music teacher in Detroit High Schools. 
George married Gladys Ishop in 1956, and later that year, he was drafted into the U.S. Army.  While in the  
Army, George became the first black man to sing with the U.S. Army chorus. It was during this time that he 
was encouraged by his fellow choir members to pursue a career in opera.  

 

After he returned from the service, George made his opera debut with a 
small troupe at Woodstock in New York, as Eisenstein in their production 
of Die Fledermaus. The following year, after winning in the American 
Opera Auditions of New York, he was invited to play the role Rodolfo in 
Puccini’s La Boheme in Milan, Italy. In 1961 he received an offer from the  
Metropolitan Opera after winning first prize in the Metropolitan Opera  
Auditions where he performed Nessun Dorma. There, George Shirley  
became the first black male to receive a contract from the Met and the 
second black male to perform there (Note: The first was Robert McFerrin 
(father of Bobby McFerrin). George performed 28 major roles in 26 operas 
during his 11 seasons with the Met, appearing more often than any other tenor.  

 

In 1968 George received a Grammy Award for singing the role of Ferrando in 
Mozart’s opera Così fan tutte, a recording that also featured opera 
greats Leontyne Price, Sherrill Milnes, and Tatiana Troyanos. In 1980 George 
was asked to teach voice at the University of Maryland. In 1985 he received 
their Distinguished Scholar Teacher Program award. Upon moving back to his 
hometown of Detroit in 1987, he became a professor of voice at the  
University of Michigan, a position he held until his retirement in 2007.  
 

In all, George’s music career has lasted more than 50 years.  He has sung the lead role 
in over 80 operas at major opera houses, all over the world. And, although he is known 
as a trailblazer, gives credit to his trailblazing role models - Roland Hayes, the first  

superstar black tenor, as well as opera singer Marian Anderson, and concert singer Paul Robeson. 
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   Dr. Alexander Thomas Augusta was born March 8, 1825 in Norfolk, Virginia to free parents.  

Later, his parents moved to Baltimore, Maryland where he worked in a barbershop while studying. At 
an early age, he showed an interest in medicine. Although discrimination kept Alexander from  
attending the University of Pennsylvania, a local professor began teaching him privately.  
 

In 1847, at the age of 22, Alexander married Mary O. Burgoin. In 1850, the couple moved to Toronto where 
Alexander was accepted into the Medical College at the University of Toronto. In 1855, he opened a Drug 
Store in Toronto offering medicines and other medical services. He received his M.B. (Bachelor of Medicine) 
degree in 1856 and was later appointed head of the Toronto City Hospital. 
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 Eunice Roberta Hunton Carter was born July 16, 1899, in Atlanta, Georgia. Her parents, William and Addie, 

were well known educators and activists. Her father was a founding member of the black division of the Y.M.C.A. and 
nearly single-handedly integrated the nation’s YMCAs in the Jim Crow South and was one of the first top Black  
administrators of the international YMCA.  Her mother was active in the NAACP and was one of two women  
selected to check on the condition of black servicemen serving during WWI in France. In 1906, her father moved his 
family to New York to flee the Atlanta Race Riot.  
 

Eunice received a bachelor’s and a master’s degree in Social Work from Smith College. She was only the second woman in the school’s  
history to receive both a bachelor’s and master’s degree in four years. She married Lyle Carter, one of the first black dentists in New York in 
1924, and together they had a son. While working as a Social Worker, she attended Fordham University studying Law. In 1932, she became 
the first black woman to receive a law degree from Fordham University. In 1933, Eunice became the first black woman to pass the New York 
Bar. In recognition of her accomplishment, Smith college awarded her an honorary Doctorate in law in 1938.  
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 Thomas Fountain Blue was born March 6, 1866, in Farmville, Virginia. His parents were former slaves. He 

graduated from Hampton Normal and Agricultural Institute in 1888. After college, he taught school in Virginia. He 
attended Richmond Theological Seminary and graduated in April of 1898 with a Bachelor of Divinity. During 
the Spanish American War, Thomas served in the Sixth Virginia Volunteers and was stationed in Camp Poland in 
Tennessee and Camp Haskell in Georgia. In 1899, after the war, he moved to Louisville, Kentucky, where he  
oversaw the Colored Branch of the Louisville Y.M.C.A. (Young Men's Christian Association). He also served on a 

number of civic associations, including as a charter member of the Louisville Chapter of the Association for the Study of Negro Life and  
History later named Association for the Study of African American Life and History in 1973.   
 

On September 23, 1905, Thomas, now referred to as “Reverend Blue” was chosen to head the Louisville  
Western Colored Branch Library, the first public library in the nation to serve black patrons with an  
all-black staff.  This “library” consisted of three small rented rooms located in a private residence.  

 

In 1908, the library moved into a larger space in the Carnegie Building, 
located at 10th and Chestnut Street.  In 1914, Thomas opened the 2nd 
Carnegie Branch Library, in Eastern Louisville.     
 

In 1919, a “Colored Department” was created in the Kentucky public library system, the first of its kind  
organization in any public library system in the United States. The department covered two Carnegie  
locations,  two junior high schools and 29 additional locations filled with books to be checked out in Louisville 
and Jefferson County. During the 1921 Joint District Meeting of Indiana and Kentucky Librarians and  
Trustees, Rev. Blue and his assistant Rachel D. Harris gave attendees a tour of the library's Western  
Colored Branch.  Rachel D. Harris went on to become the first black woman to manage a Public Library.  
 

With the growing number of locations, Thomas saw the need for library apprenticeship classes for future 
librarians. In 1922 at the Annual Meeting of the American Library Association in Detroit, Michigan, he  
presented a paper titled, "Work with the Negro Roundtable". In his paper, he talked about the librarian  
training class he started at the Western Colored Branch of the Louisville Free Public Library. His training 
class was the first library training program offered in the South for black students interested in working as a 
librarian, and was in operation from 1912 until 1931.  His class drew the attention of aspiring black librarians 
from as far as Houston, Texas and as close as Virginia. The growing interest in library service led to the  
establishment of the Hampton Library School at Hampton Institute in Virginia in September 1925, with a 
grant from the Carnegie Corporation. At the time, there was only one other accredited library school in the 
South, Atlanta (now Emory University Library School). Thomas married Cornelia Phillips Johnson in 1925. Together they had two sons.  
 

Rev. Thomas F. Blue served the Louisville Free Public Library, from 1905 until his death on November 10, 1935. 
His achievements in library services garnered him national recognition as a pioneer in the field of public service.  

 

In December 2023, the Louisville Free Public Library Foundation launched the Thomas  
Fountain Blue Innovation Fund in honor of Thomas. The fund provides support for 
librarians and local branches for reading programs, resources, books, maintenance 
of library spaces and to combat budget cuts that impact the availability of the  
resources.  The fund also covers a $10,000 grant to support specific areas such as 
Innovation, Access and Equity, Awareness and Engagement, and Capacity 
Building for the system.  
 

When Thomas and his wife Cornelia were buried, they were placed in an unmarked grave.  
On July 16, 2022, a headstone identifying their gravesite was installed.  
Their granddaughter and great-granddaughter were present for the installation. 
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 Harry Herbert Pace was born on January 6, 1884, in Covington, Georgia.  Harry was raised 

by his mother Nancy, after his father died when Harry was just an infant. By the age of twelve, Harry had 
completed elementary school. He attended Atlanta University and studied under W.E.B. Du Bois. He  
graduated as valedictorian at the age of 19. After graduation, Harry worked at a printing company and in 
the banking and insurance industry in Atlanta.  
 

After moving from Atlanta to Memphis in 1912, Harry met W.C. Handy, who was a songwriter, American composer 
and musician, who referred to himself as the Father of the Blues. W.C. Handy had written the first commercially  
successful blues song called "Memphis Blues.”  W.C. was also a popular bandleader in the famous clubs of Beale 
Street. Harry and W.C. began writing songs together and later formed the Pace and Handy Music Company. The 
company was one of the earliest black-owned sheet music publishing companies and an industry leader of the  
Harlem Renaissance. In 1918 the pair moved the company to New York. By the end of the year their catalog  
included The Memphis Blues, Beale Street Blues and The St. Louis Blues. In 1917, Harry worked with James Weldon 
Johnson, Dr. Charles Johnson, Dr. Louis Wright, and Walter White to charter the Atlanta branch of the NAACP.  
 

Following the example of the Broome Special Phonograph Records Company, the very first black-owned and operated music company, Harry  
founded Pace Phonograph Corporation Inc., in March, 1921 using $30,000 in borrowed capital.  The Pace Phonograph Corporation allowed more 
creative liberties with their artists, where Broome published only black classical music. Black Swan Records, so 

focused on the sultrier sounds of Jazz and 
the Blues. Very few white-owned record labels, such as Columbia, Victor, Aeolian, Edison and Paramount, recorded Black artists at the 
time. When they did, it was often limited to novelty songs and minstrelsy. Harry announced the new Pace/Black Swan label with ads 
in Black newspapers across the country with the slogan "The Only Records Using Exclusively Negro Voices and Musicians".  
 

In May of 1921, Harry invited jazz, gospel and blues singer Ethel Waters, to his studio on 138th Street in Harlem to record the iconic, 
"Down Home Blues”. When the record came out, it sold over 100,000 copies in the first six months, which was remarkable at the 
time. With the success of "Down Home Blues", Ethel Waters and the Black Swan Troubadours went on tour, travelling to 53 cities, 
including towns in the deep South which was dangerous for a Black band at that time. Throughout 1921, Black Swan Records  
released 78-rpm records of jazz, blues, gospel, arias, and spirituals. It put out the first ever recording of the song that would soon 
become the Black national anthem: “Lift Ev’ry Voice and Sing”, co-written by James Weldon Johnson and J. Rosamond Johnson. By 
the summer of 1922, the company had a staff of 30 employees, including its own 8-man orchestra, seven district managers in major 
cities, and over 1,000 record dealers.   
 

The Clerk’s Black History Series 

(January 6, 1884 - July 19, 1943)  
Harry Pace & Black Swan Records  

Pace & Handy Music Company Office  



D e br a D e Ber ry   
Clerk of Superior Court  

D e Kal b  C o u n ty  

 The Tent Cities of Fayette and Haywood Counties, Tennessee was a grassroots voter’s rights  

movement that was initiated, organized and maintained by black resident in the southwestern corner of Tennessee.   
 

On May 23, 1940, a Fayette County Tennessee deputy sheriff was killed in a shootout outside the home of a black man 
named Burton Dodson. Although multiple deputies were shooting into the home of Mr. Dodson, his own son was grazed by 
an officer’s bullet, Mr. Dodson was blamed for the deputy’s death.  Knowing the swift and violent backlash of being accused 
of killing a white man in the south, Mr. Dodson left town. A warrant was issued and eighteen years later, Dodson was  
captured in St Louis and returned to Fayette County to be tried for murder. At the time, mid 1950s, the population of Fayette 
County was about 70 percent black. However, there were no black jurors to serve on Dodson’s case, because so few blacks 
were registered to vote in Fayette County. Mr. Dodson, 78 years old, stood trial for first degree murder of a white deputy 
with an all white jury. Although facts presented during the trial proved it was forensically impossible for Mr. Dodson to have 
committed the shooting, he was convicted of second-degree murder in April 1959.  
 

Following the conviction of Dodson, his attorney, John Estes encouraged black residents of Fayette County and its neighboring 
county of Haywood to register to vote. Their effort was met with immediate resistance from the all-white county leadership. In 
response to this, black leaders formed the Fayette County Civic and Welfare League (FCCWL) and the Haywood County Civic 
and Welfare League. In June and July of 1959, these leagues held black voter registration drives for the August Democratic 
primary.  Hundreds of black voters registered to vote for the upcoming primary.  
 

In August of 1959, black voters were blocked from voting in the Fayette County Democratic Primary. White party officials claimed that primary elections 
were not covered under the Civil Rights Act of 1957 and they had the right to deny any citizen the ability to vote in the party's primary. The Civil Rights  
Commission officials asked to inspect Fayette County voter rolls in order to investigate the allegations of disenfranchisement. In an attempt to stall the  
investigation and keep black citizens from continuing to register, the county's election commission resigned. This prompted a legal suit contesting the  
primary’s legality.  In April of 1960, a federal judge overturned the primary in a consent judgment that also put a legal end to all-white  

elections in both Fayette and neighboring Haywood County. As a way to penalize black voters, a 
“Blacklist” was created.  Those on the list were unable to buy food, gasoline, or take out bank 
loans. Some had their insurance policies cancelled and were fired from their jobs. There was also 
an embargo placed on the one black-owned gas station and any sympathizers. In September of 
1960, the Department of Justice brought charges against twenty-seven businesses and two 
banks in neighboring Haywood County, which was also affected by the embargo.  
 
In the Winter of 1960, white farmers evicted over 400 black sharecroppers from their land. 

Many black sharecroppers had worked and lived on the land for generations. The evictions happened so quickly that many 
families were to forced pack their possessions into trucks and live in old army tents on the farms of Shepard Towles and 
Gertrude Beasley, the only two black landowners in the area. Their properties, located in both Fayette and Haywood  
counties became known as “Tent City” and  “Freedom City.” The displaced residents struggled to receive food and goods, 
due to threats and physical interference from the Ku Klux Klan and the White Citizens Council.  A story in the New York Post 
prompted the Justice Department to amend their lawsuit to include thirty-six white landowners who had evicted their tenant 
farmers.  Meanwhile, the displaced black families faced violence and attempts to starve them out of their shoddy, makeshift 
homes. Even the Red Cross refused to provide supplies or emergency aid. Incidents of harassment and shots being fired 
into the camp continued.  
 

Activists on the “Operation Freedom” bus filled with food and supplies arrived only to be met with a blockade from local white residents.  In June 1961, 
President Kennedy issued an Executive Order sending surplus food to Fayette County. Previously, county officials declined surplus food from the  
government, even though the county was one of the poorest in the nation. The denial mostly affected black residents since the lack of federal assistance, 
including food, reinforced Black sharecropper’s dependency on white landowners and the segregationist practices that had held 
sway over them since slavery.  
In July of 1962, the federal district court formally prohibited the use of economic pressure to discourage black citizens from 

voting. While the Tent Cities remained until 1963, residents began moving into low-income 
houses. The FCCWL, with the help of a number of college students, continued to register 
voters until 1964. The Civil Rights Act of 1965, which put a legal end to formal and  
informal voter discrimination, undoubtedly owes its passage to the work of organizers and 
residents and allies of Fayette and Haywood County.   
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 Moses “Fleet” Fleetwood Walker was born October 7, 1857, in Mount Pleasant, Ohio. His father, Dr. 
Moses W. Walker, was one of the first black physicians in Ohio and learned to play baseball from local Civil War 
veterans. His mother, Caroline Walker, was a midwife. In the Fall of 1878, Fleet   
entered Oberlin College where he played in all five winning varsity games of the  

season. Fleet left Oberlin College for the University of Michigan where he played for two more years.  In 
1882, he married Arabella Taylor. Together the couple had three children.  
 

After college, Fleet used his baseball skills to earn a living as a bare-handed catcher with various minor 
league teams in Cleveland and Pennsylvania. In 1882, Fleet’s Oberlin teammate, pitcher Harlan Burket, 
went to play professional baseball with a minor league team, the Toledo Blue Stockings. Fleet was later 
added to the team in the early summer of 1883. That same year the manager of the Chicago (Illinois) White Stockings, Adrian “Cap” 
Anson, protested, stating his team would not play Toledo with Fleet Walker in the lineup.  

 

In 1884, the Toledo Blue Stockings moved up to the major league level when they joined the American Association - 
making Moses “Fleet” Walker a major league baseball player - and the official first black baseball player in the major 
league.  With his new status came abuse and criticism. Racist fans of opposing teams, hurled insults during the 
games, especially when the team traveled south. Some hotels would not allow Fleet to stay with the other players, 
and opposing teams protested by refusing to take the field. At one point, Fleet’s younger brother, Weldy joined the 
team, but only briefly.  Between May 1 and September 4, 1884, Fleet played forty-two games for the Toledo Blue 
Stockings. By the late 1880s, growing segregationist policies nationwide barred blacks from major-league baseball. 
After Fleet played his last game for Toledo in 1884, no other black player would appear in the major league un-
til Jackie Robinson broke the color barrier again in 1947.  Fleet and several other black players played for a few 
more years in the minor leagues u
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 Toni Stone was born as Marcenia Lyle “Toni” Stone, on July 17, 1921 in Bluefield, West Virginia. Her  

parents moved the family to St. Paul, Minnesota when she was ten years old. As a child, Toni leaned 
toward more activities that were more often identified with boys, such as baseball and track & field.  
She earned the nickname of “Tomboy”. Her love of sport was so concerning to her parents, that her 
father contacted a local priest to talk her out of playing baseball. Instead of trying to deter young 
Toni, the priest invited her to play with his team little league team, the St. Peter Cleavers. Toni  
attended Roosevelt High School in Minneapolis but dropped out by the age of fifteen. She first 
played second base with the all-male Twin Cities Colored Giants semi-pro team, 
a local barnstorming club that traveled around the Midwest and Canada. 
 

 During the 1936-1937 season, Toni worked out with the St. Paul Saints of the American  
Baseball Association. In 1937, she moved to the California Bay Area, working odd jobs to care for 
her sister until 1946. While in San Francisco, Toni played for the American Legion Team and the 
San Francisco Sea Lions in the West Coast Negro Baseball League, making about $200 to $300 a 
month. In 1949, she played a season with the New Orleans Creoles but left to play with the Black 
Pelicans, another Louisiana team.  

In 1950, at the age of 29 and under pressure to conform to the societal 
“norms”, Toni married 69-year-old, Aurelious Alberga. Unsurprisingly, her new 
husband did not approve of her playing baseball. 
 

In 1953, Toni signed with the Indianapolis Clowns as a second-baseman, making 
her the first woman to play professional ball with the Negro League. The newspa-
pers claimed that attendance at Clowns' games hit record levels when Toni started 
playing. Her image was used on the team's promotional materials to sell tickets, 

even though some male players continued to shun her.  
While playing in the Negro Leagues, Toni was knocked down by pitchers, taken 
out on double plays by baserunners, and generally treated the same as male 
ballplayers while on the field. She wasn’t given a locker room and often had to 
change in the umpire’s locker room. The highlight of her career was hitting a  
single run off pitcher Satchel Paige. Toni appeared in fifty games in her first  

season but was traded during the off-season to the Kansas City Monarchs. After the 1953-1954 season 
with the Monarchs, Toni retired from professional baseball, with a batting average of .243. She proudly 
displayed the scars on her left wrist, from a runner that spiked her on 2nd base.   
 
 

In 1990, St. Paul, Minnesota, declared March 6 “Toni Stone Day”. In 1996, the city named a 
baseball field in her honor. Toni Stone Field is in the Dunning Baseball Complex, near the 

neighborhood where Toni grew up. She was inducted into the International Women’s 
Sports Hall of Fame in 1993 and posthumously inducted into the Minnesota Sports Hall 
of Fame in 2021. 
 

Toni cared for her husband until his death in 1987. On November 2, 1996, Marcenia 
“Toni” Stone, died of heart failure in Oakland, California. She was 75 years old. 

    

On June 20, 2019, the world premiere of the stage play, Toni Stone, 
opened at Roundabout Theatre Company's, Laura Pels Theatre, in 
New York. The play is based on the book Curveball, The Remarkable 
Story of Toni Stone by author Martha Ackmann.  
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 Jane Matilda Bolin was born on April 11, 1908, in Poughkeepsie, New York. Her British 

mother, Matilda, died when Jane was eight years old.  Her father, Gaius C. Bolin, was the first 
black person to graduate from Williams College and was head of the Dutchess County New York 
Bar Association.  Gaius was also a founding member of his local NAACP chapter, and let his 
daughter read Crisis magazine, which chronicled lynchings targeting Black Americans.  
 

Jane was a brilliant student who graduated from high school at the age of 16, and imme-
diately enrolled in Wellesley College. One of only two black female students, she was 
often ostracized and lonely. She graduated with a Bachelor of Arts degree in 1928, being 
recognized as a top performing student. When Jane shared her desire to work in the  
legal field, addressing social problems like poverty and racial discrimination, she was 
discouraged and told  there were not many opportunities for women in law. Jane’s  
father, an attorney, was initially opposed to Jane studying law. He suggested that she should become a school-
teacher. Jane was undeterred and enrolled in Yale Law School. She was the only Black woman, and one of the 

few Black students on campus. In law school, she faced discrimination from her classmates, including Southern students  
slamming classroom doors in her face. Jane graduated in 1931, becoming the first black woman to earn a Yale law degree.  
 

She passed the bar exam in 1932 and practiced in her father’s firm during the first two years of her legal career 
before marrying attorney Ralph Mizelle and moving to New York in 1933.  In 1936, Jane ran, unsuccessfully, for 
the New York Assembly, but her campaign established her in New York Politics. As a result, she was hired as  
assistant corporate counsel for New York City, making history again, as the first black woman in that position.   
 

On July 22, 1939, Jane received a strange call requesting her to appear at the World's Fair 
before Mayor Fiorello La Guardia. Jane and her husband arrived at the World Fair and  
nervously waited for the mayor to arrive. When Mayor La Guardia arrived, he briefly spoke to 
her husband and then announced to Jane that he was going to make her a judge. He directed 
her to raise her right hand and began to issue her oath. Attorney Jane Bolin became Judge 
Jane Bolin, the first black women judge in the United States.  
 

Judge Bolin was appointed to the Domestic Relations Court, later named Family Court. She 
heard domestic abuse cases, juvenile homicides, and a multitude of cases involving neglected 
children. While on the bench, she did not wear her judicial robe because she wanted children to feel  
comfortable talking to her. She was an outspoken advocate for children and civil rights. Because of her  
rulings, publicly funded childcare agencies could not reject the admission of Black children. Judge Bolin also 
stopped the court from assigning probation officers based on race. Judge Bolin’s only child, Yorke Bolin  
Mizelle, was born during her early years on the bench. Her husband Ralph died two years after her son’s 
birth. She was a single parent until she remarried seven years later.   
 

Judge Bolin was the only Black woman judge in the United States for 20 years. She spent 40 years 
on the bench and received appointments from four different mayors. She served on the National 
Board of the NAACP, as well as the boards of the National Urban League, the Child Welfare 
League and the Dalton School. With Eleanor Roosevelt, she helped re-establish the Wiltwyck 
School for Boys as a non-sectarian and interracial rehabilitative center for juveniles. She received 
honorary degrees from Morgan State University, Western College for Women, Tuskeegee Institute, 
Hampton University, and Williams College. When she was forced to retire at age 70, she reportedly 
said “they’re kicking me out”. She continued her service by volunteering in public schools and 
served on the New York State Board of Regents. Defying her father’s belief that judges die early 
from the stress of the job, Judge Jane Matilda Bolin lived to be 98 years old.   
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 Benjamin F. Hardy was on July 25, 1921, in Los Angeles, California. As a child, “Benny”, 

as he was called by his family, was interested in mechanics and motorcycles.  
 

In 1946, at the age of 25, Benny opened Hardy’s Motorcycle Service 
Shop in South Central, Los Angeles, California. He was well known 
in the black community and the local motorcycle club community as 
the go-to guy for all things motorcycle related. He built motorcycles 

and “choppers’ from scrap parts and junk bikes he collected after accidents. He was also well 
known in the Watts area by black motorcyclist’s clubs and custom bike enthusiasts.  
 

In the early 1960’s, actors Dennis Hopper and Peter Fonda were developing the storyline for 
the 1969 movie “Easy Rider”. The independent “road drama” movie featured two bikers who travel throughout the  
American Southwest, carrying large sums of money concealed in the gas tanks of their motorcycles. When Hopper and  
Fonda approached Harley Davidson motorcycles and asked for a couple of free bikes to be used in the film, one which 
would be destroyed during the filming process, Harley Davidson declined. Harley Davidson didn’t want their bikes associated 
with the “outlaw” film. Fonda decided to call on Cliff “Soney” Vaughs, a black man, motorcycle  
enthusiast, and filmmaker, from the South-Central L.A. area to build some bikes to be used in the 
film. Cliff immediately called on his motorcycle mentor, Benny “The King of Bikes” Hardy, to 
work with on the project.  The two men along with three other mechanics used old police  
motorcycles and built two bikes that would become the stars of the film: the “Billy 
Bike” and the “Caption America Chopper”, which featured an American Flag painted 
across the large gas tank.  

The 
custom bikes featured drag bars, large exhaust pipes, high handlebars, extended front forks, and 
heavy chrome pipes - many features that were Benny Hardy trademarks.  The pair also built  
additional replica bikes of each motorcycle for the end of the movie where the bikes are destroyed. 
As history would have it, Benny and Soney’s historic contributions to the iconic film were  
overlooked at the time. 
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 The Golden 14 were the first black women to muster into the United States Navy during 
World War I. The women were dubbed the Golden 14, in retrospect, in homage World War 
II’s Golden 13, the first black men U.S. Navy officers. 
 

In 1916, President Wilson won his second presidential term, and his administration began 
preparing for the possible entry into the growing European conflict (WWI). During this time, 
President Wilson was promoting the passage of the Naval Act and the Naval Reserve Act, 
that called for vastly enlarging the US Navy. In 1917, the Secretary of the Navy, Josephus 
Daniels, began filling shore billets vacated by men reporting for sea duty, and new shore 
billets created by the Navy’s expansion, with white women. Most of the women enlisted as 
yeomen. Yeoman were clerks, typists, and stenographers. A few served as messmen, 
cooks, electrician’s mates, telephone operators, and intelligence analysts.  
 

On August 12, 1918, her 29th birthday, Armelda Hattie Greene became the first black 
woman to enlist in the U.S. Naval Reserve Forces.  Armelda was born in Jackson, Mississippi, on August 12, 1889. She was a light-skinned, 
college graduate, a divorcée, and former school teacher. She was working as a civilian clerk when America entered World War I in 1914.   
Because she had a very light complexion, it is believed that she was mistakenly initially identified as white, during her recruitment. Recruiters 
at this time, in Boston, Norfolk, and Washington, were turning away qualified black women who attempted to answer the Navy’s call.   
 

Armelda was in the Aviation Department before being assigned to the Division of Enlisted Personnel, Mustering. The Muster Roll Division kept 
track of sailors throughout the war. Armelda’s brother-in-law, John T. Risher, a Black seaman, was chief of the Muster Office in the Bureau of 
Navigation. Because of his role, Risher was instrumental in Armelda’s transfer. Risher also used the broad language of the Naval Reserve Act 
and the military’s pressing need for administrative support to recruit thirteen more black women and ten black men to work in the Muster 
Office. Black women working as clerks, typists, and stenographers, broke the cycle of blacks solely working in the mess or as laborers.  
 

Armelda’s Navy performance record was exemplary. She qualified by exam for promotion to Yeoman Third 
Class (E-4). As a senior Yeoman, she trained and supervised the other members of the “Golden Fourteen”. Later 
she was promoted to Yeoman Second Class (E-5). The Navy required all women yeoman to be mustered out by 
the end of 1919. On November 13, 1919, Armelda Greene received an honorable discharge from the Navy.  
 

The Golden 14 encompassed a diverse group of women from all over the country. Some  
of the more notable Golden 14 were Sara Davis Taylor, sister of John P. Davis, who was the founder 
of Our World, one of the first national Black magazines, and Ruth Alma Welburn, the grandmother 
of Ronald H. Brown, the Secretary of Commerce under President Bill Clinton. The others, Pocahontas A. 

Jackson, Catherine E. Finch, Fannie A. Foote, Olga F. Jones, Sarah E. Howard, Marie E. Mitchell, 
Anna G. Smallwood, Maud C. Williams, Caroll E. Washington, Josephine Washington, and 

Inez B. McIntosh, remain pioneers of black history as well as naval history.  
 

The Golden 14 were awarded the World War I Victory Medal for 
their service before returning to civilian life. 
 

Armelda Green continued to work in the Department of the  
Navy as a civilian clerk. Later she moved to Philadelphia to be near 
her younger sister. There she took a clerical position in the 

Works Progress Administration. Armelda Hattie Greene died on 
February 19, 1966, in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania at the age of 77.  
She is buried with a military headstone, in Mount Lawn Cemetery, 
in Sharon Hill, Pennsylvania.  
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Twelve of the Golden Fourteen, from Kelly Miller’s History of the World War for Human Rights. Front 
row: 2nd from left, Josie Washington; 4th from left, Armelda H. Greene. Back row: 3rd from left, 
Kathryn E. Finch; 5th from left, Sara Davis. The remaining women of the group, unidentified in or 
absent from this photo, are Fannie Foote, Sarah Howard, Pocahontas Jackson, Olga Jones, Inez 
McIntosh, Marie Mitchell, Anna Smallwood, Carol Washington, Ruth Welborne, and Maud Williams.  
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 Eddie “The Sheik” Gardner was born in Birmingham, Alabama in December of 1887. Shortly after his birth, his  

family moved to Seattle, Washington. Eddie’s mother died of tuberculosis in 1911, when he was 22 years old.  
 

In 1914, Eddie returned to Alabama to attend Tuskegee Institute (now Tuskegee University), a technical school for 
blacks founded by Booker T. Washington, where he learned how to repair steam boilers. He joined the track team 
and became a star athlete.  After graduation, Eddie returned to Seattle and began repairing steam boilers at the  
Puget Sound and Light Company. Eddie continued running and entered many local races, including the Washington 

State Ten-Mile Championship, held each year in Seattle. By 1927 Eddie had won the ten-mile championship three times, setting a state 
record for that distance. He beat some of the best college and independent athletes of the region, many who were younger than Eddie.    
 

In the Summer of 1927, a race director named Charles C. Pyle advertised for the “First Annual International-Trans Continental Foot Race”. 
The foot race would cross the United States, leaving Los Angeles and ending in New York City, covering 3,400 miles. The prizes were 
astonishing for the time: $25,000 for 1st place, $10,000 for 2nd place, $5,000 for 3rd place, and $2,500 for 4th place. The 5th through 
10th place finishers would each earn a $1,000 prize. The entry fee of $125.00 covered the runner’s food, housing (tents that would travel 
with the runner), shoe repair, and minor medical care that the runners needed along the grueling race. Race staff followed the runners, 
driving up and down the day’s route, carrying coffee, food, and water. Over 200 men applied to participate in the race, with only 5 being 
black. The most notable runner was Eddie Gardner.   
 

Eddie trained intensely for months, running through the streets of Seattle wearing what would become his 
trademark uniform - a white towel or t-shirt tied around his head, a white sleeveless shirt, and white shorts.  
Onlookers dubbed Eddie “The Sheik” after the popular 1921 Rudolph Valentino movie of the same name.   
 

The race, coined “The Bunion Derby”, left Los Angeles on March 4, 1928, with 199 
runners. For two and a half months, runners traveled a designated route each day, 
stopping each night and starting together again the next day. Each runner’s arrival 
time was recorded on a cumulative log. The fastest cumulative time would  
determine the winners and their place. The grueling course led runners across 
the mostly unpaved Route 66, through the muddy Texas panhandle, into the  
rolling hills of Oklahoma and through the Ozark mountains of Missouri. The  
runners didn’t reach paved roads until they arrived in Illinois. Each day or “stage” 
of the race averaged about 40 miles. Eddie ran impressive times each day.  
 

But he, along with the other four black runners, faced not only the physical challenge of the punishing race, 
but also the Jim Crow south. Word spread to white southerners that Eddie was not only competing in the race, but that he was also  
outpacing many of the elite white runners. In one case a white farmer followed Eddie on horseback with a rifle aimed at his back, daring 
him to pass another white man. On another day, a white mob surrounded Eddie’s trainer’s car and threatened to burn it. Many angry  
onlookers hurled racial slurs and threats at Eddie and the other black runners. Their threats, however, did not outweigh the support Eddie 
received from the black communities cheering him along the way. Eddie was a symbol of hope and black pride. Of the five black runners, 
only three finished the race. One black runner was hit by a car, and a second was physically unable to continue. Eddie “The Sheik”  
Gardner finished 8th out of 55 finishers of the race, earning the $1,000 prize.   
 

The 2nd Annual “Bunion Derby” was March 31, 1929. This time, the course started in New York and ended in 
Los Angeles. Eddie “The Sheik” covered 22 miles in less than 3 hours and was leading the overall race when 
he crossed the Free Bridge over the Mississippi River that separated Illinois from Missouri. He was 
wearing his signature outfit, displaying the race number of 165. Under his number, Eddie had  
attached an American flag. Unfortunately, Eddie would not finish the 2nd Trans-America race. Just 
after Eddie crossed into Oklahoma, he pulled a hamstring muscle. Although he was in pain, he  
attempted to continue the race. He later told reporters that he wanted to win the race, for his people.  
 

When the Great Depression hit, Eddie remained in Seattle and returned to work as a steam boiler  
repairman before eventually becoming a steel worker. After 1929, C.C. Pyle never  
hosted another Trans-American Footrace, and the time of the Bunion Derby came to 
end. In 1938, Eddie won a 52-mile-long walking competition called “the Lake Hike” 
around Lake Washington, beating the course’s previous record. However, it was the 
last endurance competition he won. 
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Eddie Gardner Crossing the Mississippi River at St. Louis, 1929.  

Eddie “The Sheik” Gardner at the start of the race.  

Eddie Gardner during Bunion Derby, Oklahoma, 1928  
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 The Saltwater Railroad was a southwardly coastal route that many enslaved people, along with  
Seminoles and free people fleeing capture, used to escape the Southern states in the early 1820s.  
 

Long before Harriet Tubman and the Underground railroad became the escape passage North, enslaved people 
from modern-day Georgia and the Carolinas journeyed to Spanish controlled Florida in search of freedom.   
 

In 1819, Spain transferred its Florida territory to the United States under the Adams-Onis Treaty. Prior to the 
transfer, Spanish Florida was a safe-haven for freedom seeking Africans with a large 
concentration of black Seminoles living in Negro Fort - a short-lived fortification  

inside of Fort Gadson, built by the British during the War of 1812. The Fort, located near 
the Apalachicola National Forrest, was destroyed and the occupants killed in 1818 by Con-
federate troops, under the command of Andrew Jackson.  After the invasion, the free, 
largely black population could not travel north to the free states, so instead, they moved 
south. Their route to freedom is known as the Saltwater Railroad.   
 

Unlike the Underground Railroad - an informal network of abolitionists and safehouses that 
helped enslaved Africans escape to the free Northern states and Canada - the Saltwater Railroad led its  
passengers to Key Biscayne, on the southeastern coast of Florida. 
 

Nearly 1000 escapees traveled more than 500 miles, contending with challenges on their long journey. The land was  
undeveloped and full of swamps, insects, animals, and slave hunters from the North, as well as some indigenous tribes  
looking to capture and return escapees in exchange for weapons and compensation. It was Black Seminoles who helped the 
escapees with navigational assistance, food, and supplies along the way. Black Seminoles were runaway slaves from plantations 
in South Carolina and Georgia who sought refuge in Spanish-controlled Florida and lived among the Seminole Indians.  
 

When groups arrived at the southeastern Florida coast, they negotiated with Bahamian wreckers and fishermen who sailed Florida’s 
southern coast in search of marine salvage. If they were fortunate, they would haggle a fair price and board a boat bound for the  
Bahamian Andros Island - the closest land to the Florida coast. The Bahama Islands were under the control of the British, who had 
abolished slavery. Other escapees would risk the trip in dugout canoes with makeshift sails for the 154-mile crossing to the islands.  
 

The dangerous ocean voyage offered no guarantees. While crossing the gulf stream, the escapees risked capture, storms, boats  
capsizing, and death. The fortunate ones found their destiny on Red Bays on Andros Island, an island that is still home to descendants 
of those that found refuge many years ago. Bahamian descendants, some who still call themselves Black Seminoles, live in the Red 
Bays settlement on Andros. Cuba, Haiti, and other islands in the Caribbean region were additional secondary 
destinations for the Saltwater Railroad.  
 

With the final transfer of Florida to the U.S. was completed in 1821, Florida became a typical 
southern state that established a slavery-based economy. The U.S. military 
was brought in to capture escaping slaves and their native helpers.  
 

The dark beaches of Cape Florida offered refuge for escapees until  
December 17, 1825, when the Federal Government built the Cape Florida  
Lighthouse, making it difficult for escape, essentially shutting down the  
Saltwater Railroad.  
 

The Cape Florida lighthouse is the oldest structure in Miami Dade County and 
still stands in Bill Baggs State Park. In September 2004, Cape Florida was  
designated an official National Underground Railroad Network to Freedom site.  
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 William T. Shorey was born on July 13, 1859, in the Caribbean Island of Barbados. As a boy,  

William saw little opportunity in his homeland and did not want to follow in his father’s footsteps as 
a sugarcane farmer.  At the age of 17, he boarded a ship bound for Boston. During his first trip, 
William quickly learned the dangers of whaling after a whale attacked the vessel, smashing into the 
sides of the ship. When he arrived in Boston, he immediately, began working as an apprentice  
whaler. In 1880, William sailed from the East Coast, around the Cape of Good Hope, and eventually 
to San Francisco aboard the whaler “Emma Harriman”. In 1884, William made his home in  
California and married Julia Shelton, a newspaper publisher from a prominent black family. The  

following year, William received his official Master’s License, allowing him to command any size water vessel, 
anywhere in the world. Most of his voyages were based out of San Francisco, which by 1900 was the foremost 
international trading hub on the North American West Coast, importing and exporting over 
six million tons of goods. His ships were comprised of multi-racial crews.   
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